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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

LYNN EVENCHIK, on behalf of herself and CASE NO. 12-cv-61 BEN (DHB)
all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs, ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT’S
VS. MOTION TO DISMISS and
DIRECTING COMPLIANCE WITH
FED. R. CIV. P. RULE 5.1

AVIS RENT A CAR SYSTEM, LL
S CAR SYS  LLC, [Docket No. 12]

Defendant.

Presently before the Court is the motion to dismiss filed by Defendant Avis Rent A C
System, LLC (“AVIS”). For the reasons stated below, the motion is denied.
. BACKGROUND
According to the Complaint, Plaintiff rented a car from AVIS in July 2011, in the Cou
of San Diego, California. She was charged $311.36. According to the Complaint, at that tif
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AVIS gave large price discounts to members of two groups: the International Gay and Leshian

Travel Association and the National Gay and lissliChamber of Commerce. Plaintiff is not a
member of either group. The Complaint further alleges that AVIS did not give her the gay 3
lesbian group member price discount. Plaintiff alleges that California’s Unruh Civil Rights A

(California Civil Code 8§ 51 and its related section § 51.5) prohibits a business from discrimi
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between its customers on the basis of sexual orientation. According to the Complaint, a bu
also violates California Business and Prof@ssiCode § 17200, which prohibits unfair busines
practices, when it gives price discounts to sonstarners, but not all customers, on the basis g
sexual orientation. Plaintiff also asserts a class action on behalf of other similarly situated |
who rented cars from AVIS in California amdho did not receive the gay and lesbian group
member price discount. AVIS does not challenge the class action allegations at this time.
seeks only dismissal of the Complaint on the basis that Plaintiff has failed to state a claim f
relief.

Il. DISCUSSION

A. Request to Take Judicial Notice

Defendant requests the Court take judiniatice of six documents in support of their
motion to dismiss. The six documents appear to be screen shots of various business web

Exhibits A and B are undated AVIS web pages listing various offers. Exhibit C is a Hilton W
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page dated Feb. 22, 2012. Exhibit D is an Unitetinf®s web page (undated). Exhibit E appears

to be an aavacations.com web page (undated). Exhibit F appears to be a
myrewardzone.bestbuy.com web page (undated). None of these exhibits are the type of
documents for which judicial notice can be taken under Federal Rule of Evidence 201(b).
Federal Rule of Evidence 201(b) explains that “[a] judicially noticed fact must be ong
subject to reasonable dispute in that itis . . . capable of accurate and ready determination &

to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably Istigued.” Judicial notice is proper only whe

the matter is “beyond reasonable controverd¥ivera v. Philip Morris, InG.395 F.3d 1142, 1151

(9th Cir. 2005) (quoting Fed. R. Evid. 201 advisooynmittee note). Screen shots of web pags
especially because of the ever-changing content, are not typically the type of document cor
facts, the accuracy of which is capable of ready determinafier.e.g.In re Easysaver Rewards
Litig., 737 F. Supp. 2d 1159, 1167-68 (S.D. Cal. 2010) (Anello, J.) (declining to take judicia
notice of changing web screen shoEgrrington v. McAfee, Inc2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 106600
(N.D. Cal. Oct. 5, 2010) (declining to take judicnotice of changing web screen shots providg
by defendant)but see Kenneally v. Bank of N.BL1 F. Supp. 2d 1174, 1183 (S.D. Cal. 2010)
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(Hayes, J.) (taking judicial notice of unchalledgeaterial on website run by U.S. Department
Housing and Urban Development regarding priypewner’s registration under the Land Sales
Act). The Court declines AVIS’s request to take judicial notice of the web page screen sho
under Rule 201.

Alternatively, AVIS argues that the screen shots should be considered under the dog
incorporation by reference. In resolving a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, a court generally cannot cc
material outside the complainBranch v. Tunnell4 F.3d 449, 453-54 (9th Cir. 1994). Howevs

a court may consider exhibits attached to the compléit A court may treat such a document

S
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as

“part of the complaint, and thus may assume that its contents are true for purposes of a motion tc

dismiss under the Rule 12(b)(6)United States v. Ritchi@42 F.3d 903, 908 (9th Cir. 2003ge
also Castagnola v. Hewlett-Packard C2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 82026 (N.D. Cal. June 13, 201
(considering screen shots of defendant’s wegepavhich plaintiff incorporated into his

complaint). “Even if a document is not attached to a complaint, it may be incorporated by

2)

reference into a complaint if the plaintiff refers extensively to the document or the document form

the basis of the plaintiff's claim.Ritchie,342 F.3d at 908“The defendant may offer such a
document, and the district court may treat such a document as part of the complaint, and th
assume that its contents are true for purposes of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12¢h)(6).”
(doctrine applies when a claim about insurance coverage is based on the contents of a cov
plan or when a claim about stock fraud is based on contents of SEC filings).

AVIS asserts that Plaintiff references the AVIS website in her Complaint. The gist of
Complaint is about rental discounts based on a customer’s sexual orientation not offered tg

Plaintiff at an AVIS airport car réal counter. It is not about rental transactions made througl

us mz

erage

the

AVIS’s website. Paragraph 10 of the Complaint refers to a “Avis-Prouder” website page, but the

exhibit appears to be part of a computer file labeled: mhtmil:file://C:\Documents and
Settings\david\Destop\Avis - Prouder.miteeNotice of Lodgment in Support, Exh. B. None @
the documents offered by AVIS purport to complete the “Avis - Prouder” document.

The Complaint also refers generally to AVIS’s website while quoting language about|

commission rates AVIS pays to its rental car affiliates. None of the documents offered by A
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purport to complete the terms upon which AVIS offers commissions. AVIS cites no other
references to AVIS’s website nor references to the websites of Hilton, United Airlines,

aavacations.com, or myrewardzone.bestbuy.com. The Court finds that the six exhibits offe

Fed by

AVIS are not proper documents for applying the incorporation by reference doctrine. Deferjdant’:

request to take judicial notice is denied.

B. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss

Defendant moves to dismiss the Complaint under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6]

Dismissal is appropriate under Rule 12(b)(6) if the Complaint fails to state a plausible claim
relief on its face. Bell Atl. Corp. v. TwombJyb50 U.S. 544, 556-57 (200%ge also Ashcroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (requiring plaintiffglead factual content that provides “more
than a sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully”). Under this standard, dismi
may be obtained if the Complaint fails to state enough facts to raise a reasonable expectati
discovery will reveal evidence of the matter corm@d of, or if the Complaint lacks a cognizab
legal theory under which relief may be grantdavombly 550 U.Sat 556.

California law describes the contours of the claim for relief, since this suit is based u
diversity jurisdiction. “The task of a federal court in a diversity action is to approximate stat
as closely as possible in order to make sure that the vindication of the state right is without

discrimination because of the federal forun” S. Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Lee Invest., LLE21

for
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F.3d 1126, 1133-34 (9th Cir. 2011) (citations omitted). “In analyzing state law in a diversity|case.

we are bound by the decisions of the state’s higtwst. . . [and] [i]f the California Supreme

Court has not decided the question, we are required to ascertain from all the available datal what

the state law is and apply itld. (citations omitted).
1. Violation of California’s Unruh Civil Rights Act
AVIS moves to dismiss the first claim forief which alleges AVIS violated California’s

Unruh Civil Rights Act, California Civil Code §8 =t seq" A straight forward reading of the Ag

! California Civ. Code § 51 states in its entirety:

(a) This section shall be known, and may be cited, as the Unruh Civil Rights
Act. (b) All persons withirthe jurisdiction of this state are free and equal, and no
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matter what their sex, race, color, retigj ancestry, national origin, disability, medical
condition, genetic information, marital status, or sexual orientation are entitled to the
full and equal accommodations, advantages, facilities, privileges, or services in all
business establishments of every kindatgbever. (c) This section shall not be
construed to confer any right or privilege a person that is conditioned or limited by
law or that is applicable alike to persmisvery sex, color, race, religion, ancestry,
national origin, disability, medical condition, marital status, or sexual orientation or
to persons regardless of their genetic infation. (d) Nothing in this section shall be
construed to require any construction, alteration, repair, structural or otherwise, or
modification of any sort whatsoever,ylmad that construction, alteration, repair, or
modification that is otherwise required byher provisions of law, to any new or
existing establishment, faciitbuilding, improvement, or any other structure, nor shall
anything in this section be construed to augment, restrict, or alter in any way the
authority of the State Architect to require construction, alteration, repair, or
modifications that the State Architect otherwise possesses pursuant to other laws. (e
For purposes of this section: (1) “Disability” means any mental or physical disability
as defined in Sections 12926 and 12926.1@f3bvernment Codd?2) (A) “Genetic
information” means, with respect to amgdividual, information about any of the
following: (i) The individual's genetic testgii) The genetic tests of family members

of the individual. (iii) The manifestation aefdisease or disorder in family members

of the individual. (B) “Genetic informatn” includes any request for, or receipt of,
genetic services, or participation in clinical research that includes genetic services, by
an individual or any family member of the individual. (c) “Genetic information” does
not include information about the sex age of any individual. (3) “Medical
condition” has the same meaning as defimesubdivision (h) of Section 12926 of the
Government Code. (4) “Religion” includal aspects of religious belief, observance,
and practice. (5) “Sex” includes, but is not limited to, pregnancy, childbirth, or
medical conditions related to pregnancybildbirth. “Sex” also includes, but is not

limited to, a person’s gender. “Gender” means sex, and includes a person’s gendef

identity and gender expression. “Gendgrression” means a person’s gender-related
appearance and behavior whether or not stereotypically associated with the person’
assigned sex at birth. (6pex, race, color, religionancestry, national origin,
disability, medical condition, genetic information, marital status, or sexual orientation”
includes a perception that the person has any particular characteristic or characteristic
within the listed categories or that the erss associated with a person who has, or

is perceived to have, any particular chagastic or characteristics within the listed
categories. (7) “Sexual orientation” the same meaning as defined in subdivision

(r) of Section 12926 of the Government Cod#. A violation of the right of any
individual under the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (P.L. 101-336)
shall also constitute a violation of this section.

California Civil Code 851.5(a) and (b) state:

“(@) No business establishment of angckiwhatsoever shall discriminate against,
boycott or blacklist, or refuse to buy from, contract with, sell to, or trade with any
person in this state on account of any characteristic listed or defined in subdivision (b)
or (e) of Section 51, or of the persopartners, members, stockholders, directors,
officers, managers, superintendents, agemployees, business associates, suppliers,
or customers, because the person is perceived to have one or more of thosg
characteristics, or because the person is associated with a person who has, or
perceived to have, any of those charactesst{b) As used in this section, “person”
includes any person, firm, association, organization, partnership, business trust,
corporation, limited liability company, or company.
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in light of the California Supreme Court decisianterpreting the Act, lead to the conclusion th
Plaintiff has stated a plausible claim for relie#,, that AVIS violated the prohibitions of the Act
regarding discrimination on the basis of sexualradagon. Plaintiff plausibly alleges a concrete
business transaction took place. In addition, Plaintiff plausibly alleges that during the trans
AVIS charged her a higher price to rent a car beeaVIS did not perceive her to be a lesbian
gay customer or because AVIS did not perceive her to be associated with favored lesbian ¢

customer groups.

The Unruh Civil Rights Act “prevents discrimination in the form of pricing differentialg.

Chabner v. United of Omaha Life Ins. C&25 F.3d 1042, 1050 (9th Cir. 2000) (citikgire v.
Metro Car Wash40 Cal. 3d 24 (1985)). Ikoire, the California Supreme Court observed that

Action

or

r gay

“[c]ourts have repeatedly held that the Unruh Act is applicable where unequal treatment is the

result of a business practice.” 40 Cal. 3d at 29. The supreme court explained, “The Act’s
proscription is broad enough to include within its scope discrimination in the form of sex-ba
price discounts.”ld. at 30. It held that the Unruh Act was violated by a car wash business
offering reduced rates to women, but not mih.at 32. In its ruling, the supreme court

specifically warned against the offeringmfce discounts based upon sexual orientation. In

sed

regards to the type of discounts Plaintiff alleges AVIS gave to groups based on sexual orientatior

theKoire court said: “It would be no less a violation of the Act for an entrepreneur to charge
homosexuals . . . reduced rates in his or her restaurant or hotel in order to encourage one (¢
patronage and, thereby, increase profitg.” This is similar to the violation of the Act Plaintiff
alleges.

California Civil Code § 52(a) “creates a private right of action against anyone who ‘d
aids or incites a denial, or makes any discrimination or distinction contrary to Section 51.”
Stevens v. Optimum Health In&10 F. Supp. 2d 1074, 1085 (S.D. Cal. 2011) (Hayes, J.). T§
California Supreme Court has made it clear that a customer does not have to make an exp

demand for equal treatment in order for a business to violate theAAgelucci v. Century Suppe

California Government Code §12926(r), which defilsexual orientation” for purposes of the Unr

all

jroup’

Pnies,
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Civil Rights Act states: “Sexualrientation’ means heterosexuality, homosexuality, and bisexuglity.”
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Club, 41 Cal. 4th 160, 164 (2007) (concluding that a valid claim for relief under the Unruh A
does not require “customers who are discriminated against when they present themselves
business establishment and pay the price of admission [to] also [] demand equal treatment
refused”). Finally, the Act must be construed liberally to carry out its purpose of creating an
preserving a nondiscriminatory environment in California business establishriterats 167
(“[T]he [Unruh] Act must be construed liberally order to carry out its purpose.”). Applying
Angeluccito this case, the Court finds that Plaintiff need not allege that she requested and \j
denied an equally discounted car rental rate deioto state a cognizable claim for relief. Since
Plaintiff has alleged a violation of state landastate law provides a private right of action, the
Complaint sets forth a plausible claim folieé Nevertheless, AVIS puts forth scattered
arguments, knocks over straw men, falls back oadanominenattack? and invokes the Free
Speech Clause of the United States Constitution, in an effort to pump up its deflated motior
dismiss. None of these asservations are persuasive. Some of the more substantial argum
addressed here.

AVIS asserts throughout its briefs that thegmse of California’s Unruh Civil Rights Act

is (to use AVIS’s words): “to prevent unequal treant for disadvantaged classes of people wk

have been the subject of invidious discriminatiob&ither the language of the statute nor the ¢

law speak of protecting disadvantaged classes. Instead, the Act seeks to prevent any
discrimination among people on the basis of listed characteristics. Thus, because the Act
discrimination on the basis of sex, for example, it prohibits business from charging men mo
women for the same serviceSee Koire, 40 Cal. 3d at 32. In finding that charging men more
than women for a car wash, the California Supreme Court did not suggest that men were a
“disadvantaged class” or that men had beewipusly subjected to “invidious discrimination.”

Instead, it found that the unequal price treatment was the prohibited discrimination. One cq

*Throughout its reply brief, AVIS slings persdmdtacks at Evenchik. For example, AV
says Plaintiff “has invoked the Unruh Act aseapon in her moral crusade against a class of pe
she apparently finds objectionable;” and “this laivgs a manufactured attempt by an out-of-st
Plaintiff to turn the Unruh Act . . . into a weaporptarsue her social agenda.” There is nothing in
Complaint that supports these barbs. Demeaning language and offensive remarks have n
federal court briefs.
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described the Act’s purpose like this:

The objective of the Act is to prohibit businesses from engaging in unreasonable,
arbitrary or invidious discrimination. Therefore, the Act applies not merely in

situations where businesses exclude individuals altogether, but also where treatment

is unequal.Unequal treatment includes offering price discounts on an arbitrary
basis to certain classes of individuals.

Pizarro v. Lamb’s Players Theatr&35 Cal. App. 4th 1171, 1174 (2006) (citations omitted)
(emphasis added). The same point was made by the supreme &meabke v. Bernardo Height

Country Club 36 Cal. 4th 824, 849 (2005) (“Bhfarris[v. Capital Growth Investors X|\b2 Cal.

3d 1142 (1991)] did not hold that only classesegute#d under federal equal protection law werg

worthy of protection under the [Unruh] Act, nor dig require a history of stigmatization in ord
to bring a category within the ambit of the [Unruh] Act.”).

The approach of the Unruh Act, prohibiting all arbitrary discrimination without regard
“protected classes” is quite different frahe approach AVIS argues. AVIS puts much of its
argument in terms of protected classes and past stigmatization. For example, AVIS incorre
asserts, “The purpose of the Unruh Act is to prevent unequal treatment for disadvantaged ¢
of people who have been the subject of immidi discrimination,” and then argues that the
Complaint fails to state a claim because “Plaintiff does not even allege she is a member of
protected class.” This misapprehension rilnmmsugh AVIS’s briefs. Likewise, AVIS argues
“[t]here is no allegation in the Complaint that heterosexuals have been subject to invidious
discrimination.” But California law does not requaelaintiff to be a member of any protected
class or to have been previously subject seriinination, in order to bring an action under the
Unruh Act. Consequently, this thread of argument is unavailing.

Another thread of argument runs through AVIBigefs: (a) since Plaintiff might have beg
able to qualify herself for other rental discouratsd (b) since Plaintiff could have become a

member of the International Gay and Lesbian Travel Association or the National Gay and L

Uj

174

ctly

lasse

A4
=)

esbia

Chamber of Commerce and thus qualified for its favored discounts (a subset of the first argumen

there was no pricing discrimination. There are at least two problems with this thread. The
California Supreme Court made cleaAingelucci4l Cal 4th at 164, that as a matter of law, a

business customer need not ask for equal treatment or for the benefit of a discriminatory di

-8- 12¢cv6l
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for a violation of the Unruh Act to occur. lomtrast, AVIS argues that Plaintiff could have ask
for another discount such as a Hilton Honors member discount or a Best Buy Rewards mer|
discount, or that Plaintiff could have becoememember of the International Gay and Lesbian
Travel Association or the National Gay and Lesbian Chamber of Commerce, and thus beer
eligible for a discounted rental rate. This argument disregards the clear holdimgetdicci

The other problem with this thread is that it assumes an evidentiary showing which h
to be made. There is no evidence at this stage that Plaintiff was offered a Hilton Honors m
discount or a Best Buy Rewards memberalisit. There is no evidence that AVIS offered
Plaintiff any discount equal to the rental discount given members of the International Gay a
Lesbian Travel Association or the National Gay and Lesbian Chamber of Commerce. Ther
evidence that any of the discounts AVIS refers to as being on its “deals” webpage were offe
Plaintiff when she rented her car. And although BVépeats it often as fact, there is no evidel
that membership in either International Gay and Lesbian Travel Association or the National
and Lesbian Chamber of Commerce was open tati#favhen she rented her car. Finally, thers
is no evidence that any of the other discounts would have been as favorable as the alleged
discriminatory discount$.To the extent that the existence of other discounts are relevant (w
Angeluccisuggests they are not), they may be considered later at summary judgment or trig
may not be considered when ruling on a motion to dismiss.

To the extent that it is relevant whether Plaintiff could have become a member of eitl
International Gay and Lesbian Travel Association or the National Gay and Lesbian Chambg
Commerce, there is no evidence of the membership requirements or her eligibility in the req
The salient allegation of the Complaint is that AVIS charged Plaintiff more money for her cg
rental than it would have charged Plaintiff iaitiff had been a member of the favored gay an
lesbian groups. This is sufficient to plausibly allege a violation of § 51.

Another thread of argument repeated in AVIS’s briefs is the notion that the Complain

alleges disparate impact and disparate impact is not actionable under the Unruh Act. AVIS

3AVIS argues that because Plaifrtequested and received othesabunts, the actual rate s
paid for her rental car was no higher than the rate she could have obtained using the ch
discounts. Unfortunately, AVIS offers no evidence to prove its statement.
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certainly correct that the Unruh Act does not prohibit cases of disparate infescKoebke36

Cal. 4th at 854 (“We held, therefore, that a plaintiff seeking to establish a case under the U

nruh

Act must plead and prove intentional discrimination in public accommodations in violation of the

terms of the Act. A disparate impact analysis or test does not apply to Unruh Act claims.”)

(internal quotations marks omitted). HoweveniRtiff alleges disparate treatment based upon

a

facially discriminatory method of charging rental customers — not a disparate impact. Gay and

lesbian renters were given discounts becauseeafsbxual orientation. Plaintiff was not given
discount because she was (or was perceived to be) of a different sexual orientation. Thus,
Complaint alleges AVIS applied an arbitrary generalization focusing on the unlawful custor
characteristic of sexual orientation. Some probomal discounts are permissible under the Act.
business could lawfully offer reduced rates to all customers on one day eachStaa&knan v.
Mann Theatres Corp227 Cal. App. 3d 1491, 1498 (199titihg Koire, 40 Cal. 3d at 24). Or a
business could offer a discount to any patron who presented a cddpdhbusiness could
lawfully reduce a price for purchasing commodities in quantity, or for making advance
reservations.ld. “The key is that the discounts must be applicable alike to persons of every
color, race, etc. . . . instead of being contirigen some arbitrary class-based generalizatidoh.”
(internal quotations omitted). The typediscount AVIS allegedly offers, one based upon a
particular sexual orientation, is facially disamatory and not permissible under the Unruh Act
AVIS also sets up a straw man and complains that “Plaintiff is effectively asking this
to decree the rates Avis may charge and dictate the organizations with whom Avis may neg
marketing agreements.” The Complaint, however, does not ask AVIS to charge any particy
rental rates. It only asks that the rates (whatever AVIS decides to charge) be the same for
customers without regard to their perceived skatantation. AVIS complains that Plaintiff's
Unruh Act claim will involve the Court in “extended judicial interference into the day-to-day

economic decisions” and setting economic policy for AVIS’s business. A § 51 claim, howev

will only involve the court to the extent AVIS makes day-to-day decisions or sets its econom

policy using intentional price discrimination based on sexual orientation which is prohibited

Act. No unlawful discrimination; no judicial interference.
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AVIS maintains that this action is a manufactured lawsuit brought by a professional
plaintiff and bounty-hunting attorneys. To back up its aspersion, it points to nothing more tf
one 2005 lawsuit initiated by the same attorneysaadifferent plaintiff pusuing a different legal
claim? There is nothing to suggest that PldfrEivenchik is a professional plaintiff who
manufactured this lawsuit. A search of this Court’s own records and a Lexis search fails to
unearth any prior lawsuits filed by Lynn Evenchik. Although AVIS may disagree, these are
the tell-tale signs of professional plaintiffs and bounty-hunting attorneys. Moreover, it is of
legal relevance. IAngeluccj the California Supreme Court addressed a complaint that the
plaintiffs made repeated visits to a business in order to increase the amount of statutory da
and their attorneys filed numerous similar lawsuits. Although concerned, the supreme cour
concluded that it was up to the legislature to protect against abusive private legal actions a

settlement tacticsAngeluccj 41 Cal. 4th at 179. In other words, being sued by a professiong

plaintiff with the help of bounty-hunting attorneys is not a valid basis under California law foy

granting a motion to dismiss.
AVIS also argues the Unruh Act claim must be dismissed because AVIS’s discount
policies are neither unreasonable, arbitrary or invidious. That case must be made at summ

judgment or at trial. “Although California couttave concluded that reasonable restrictions

be put in place so long as the restrictions are rationally related to the services performed . .

whether the policies in this case are reasonable, not arbitrary or not invidious under the Un
IS a question that cannot be addressed in a motion to dismisgstman v. Carlsbad Seapoint
Resort 11, L.P, 2011 WL 2009999 (S.D. Cal. May 23, 2011) (Lorenz, J.).

Lastly, AVIS argues that if the Unruh Act makes giving discounts to the International
and Lesbian Travel Association or the National Gay and Lesbian Chamber of Commerce u
then the Unruh Act runs afoul of AVIS’s federal and state constitutional rights of free expreg
and free association. Of course, a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim merely tests

sufficiency of the complaint; it does not decide theita®f the case. The Court is not aware o

“That action, Case No. 05cv1039 DMS, concerned whether a California statue prol
airport concession recovery fees could ppli@d when AVIS rents cars outside California.
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case, and AVIS cites none, where a defendant attempted to raise a constitutional challenge
state law claim in a motion to dismiss.

Further, a defendant’s constitutional challenge to California’s Unruh Act raises two
additional concerns. The first question is whether AVIS should notify the attorney general o
California as required by Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Sge als@®8 U.S.C. § 2403(b) (“In
any action, suit, or proceeding in a court of the United States to which a State or any ageng
officer, or employee thereof is not a party, wherein the constitutionality of any statute of tha
affecting the public interest is drawn in questithe, court shall certify such fact to the attorney
general of the State, and shall permit the State to intervene for presentation of evidence, if
evidence is otherwise admissible in the case, and for argument on the question of
constitutionality.”). The attorney general would then have 60 days to decide whether to inte
to defend the statute. In order to protect trege5 right to intervene and defend its statute, the
Court directs counsel for AVIS to file within 14 days of this Order either a notice that it has
complied with Rule 5.1, or a notice that AVIS is abandoning its constitutional defense.

The second question is whether this Court should abstain from deciding the constitu

guestion. Under thRullmanabstention doctrine, when a state law is being challenged in fed
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court as unconstitutional and there are questions of state law which may be dispositive of the cas

a federal court should abstain from deciding the case, allowing, instead, the state courts to
the state issueBabbitt v. United Farm Workers Nat'l Unip#42 U.S. 289, 306 (1979). The

rationale behind thBullmandoctrine is the avoidance of unnecessary resolution of constituti

® Rule 5.1(a) states:

Notice by a Party. A party théles a . . . written motion... drawing into question the
constitutionality of a federal or state statute must promptly: (1) file a notice of
constitutional question stating the question aeatifying the paper that raises it, if:
(A) afederal statute is questioned araghrties do not include the United States, one
of its agencies, or one of its officers or eaydes in an official capacity; or (B) a state
statute is questioned and the parties do rhtde the state, one of its agencies, or one
of its officers or employees in an officiedpacity; and (2) serve the notice and paper
on the Attorney General of the United Stafesfederal statute is questioned — or on
the state attorney general if a state statute is questioned . . . .
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guestions by allowing state courts an opportunity to interpret an ambiguous state statute sg
is constitutional.Harris Cnty. Comm’rs Ct. v. Mooyd20 U.S. 77, 84 (1975) (“Among the case
that call most insistently for abstention are those in which the federal constitutional challeng

on a state statute, the meaning of which is uncleder state law.”). In this lawsuit, neither par

has addressdelullmanabstention. Without full briefing onéhabstention issue, including briefipg

on the position of the attorney general (should she decide to intervene), this Court declines
abstain.

AVIS’s other arguments in support of its motion to dismiss the Unruh Civil Rights Acf

that i

e turr

Ly
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claims are either restatements of the already-discussed arguments or are insubstantial. THe mot

to dismiss the Unruh Civil Rights Act claim is denied.

2. Violation of California’s Business and Professions Code § 17200

For her second claim for relief, Plaintiff alleges AVIS violated California Business an
Professions Code § 17200, which prohibits unfaiir®ss practices. AVIS argues that Plaintiff
has failed to plead a viable Unruh Act claim and that to the extent the § 17200 claim derive
the failed claim, the 8 17200 claim fails as well. This argument is moot because Plaintiff ha
sufficiently pled a plausible Unruh Act claim.

AVIS alternatively argues that Plaintiff haet sufficiently pled an independent 8 17200
claim. This argument also fails. To state a claim under § 17200, “a plaintiff must allege tha
defendant committed a business act that is either fraudulent, unlawful, or ubhfaiitie v. Blue
Shield of Cal.189 Cal. App. 4th 1117, 1136 (2010). Each prong of 8 17200 describes a sef
and distinct theory of liability Kearns v. Ford Motor Co567 F.3d 1120, 1127 (9th Cir. 2009).
As to the unlawful prong, 8 17200 incorporates other laws and treats violations of those law
unlawful business practices independently actionable under stat€laatner v. United Omaha
Life Ins. Co, 225 F.3d 1042, 1048 (9th Cir. 2000). As to the unfair prong, “[a]jn unfair busing
practice is one that either ‘offends an established public policy’ or is ‘immoral, unethical,
oppressive, unscrupulous or substantially injurious to consumévieDonald v. Coldwell
Banker 543 F.3d 498, 506 (9th Cir. 2008) (quotidgople v. Casa Blanca Convalescent Home
Inc., 159 Cal. App. 3d 509, 530 (1984)). As to the fraudulent prong, “fraudulent acts are on
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where members of the public are likely to be deceiv&ybersound Records, Inc. v. UAV Corp.

517 F.3d 1137, 1151-52 (9th Cir. 2008).

Plaintiff alleges independently of the tlin Act that the AVIS discount given only to
customers of a favored sexual orientation is an unfair business practice. The California Su
Court has decided that a business practice nwgtei 8 17200 without violating a specific statu

Cel-Tech Com., Inc. v. L. A. Cellular Tel. C20 Cal. 4th 163, 180 (1999) (“The statutory

Dreme

€.

language referring to ‘any unlawful, unfair ordculent’ practice makes clear that a practice may

be deemed unfair even if not specifically proscribed by some other law.”). However, to

circumscribe the potential liability, the California Supreme Court requires a redressable unf

Rir

business practice to be in violation of public policy, and “the public policy triggering the violation

must be tethered to a constitutional or statutory provisitth.at 185. The California public
policy against sexual orientation discrimination, as reflected in the Unruh Civil Rights Act, is
a policy. The allegations in the Complaint, of course, may prove to be untrue. That judgme
reserved for later proceedings. At this juncttm@yever, Plaintiff has stated a plausible claim f
relief under California Business and Professi Code 8 17200. The Defendant’s motion to
dismiss this claim is also denied.
[ll. CONCLUSION
AVIS’s motion to dismiss is denied. AVIS is directed to file within 14 days of this Org
either a notice that it has complied with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 5.1, or a notice that
abandoning its constitutional defense.
DATED: September 17, 2012 ,
UAMAAL
Hon. Ro . Benitez _‘7

United States District Judge
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